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Directors’ statement 
 
We are pleased to submit this annual report to the member of SP PowerAssets Limited (the “Company”) together 
with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2024. 

 
Opinion of the Directors 
 
In our opinion, 
 

(a) the financial statements set out are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 31 March 2024 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows 
of the Company for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”); and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 
Directors 
 
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 

  
Mr Stanley Huang Tian Guan  
Mrs Jeanne Cheng  
Mr Ong Teng Koon  
Ms Amelia Champion   
Ms Loong Hui Chee  
Mr Kenneth Soh Yew Chin  
Mr Steve Lee Hee Kwang  
 
Directors’ interests 
 
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Act, particulars of interests 
of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and infant 
children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations are as 
follows: 

 
Name of director and related corporations in which 
interests (fully paid ordinary shares unless 
otherwise stated) are held 

Holdings  
at beginning  

of the year 

Holdings  
at end of  
the year 

   
Mr Stanley Huang Tian Guan   
   
Paragon REIT – units 323,000 323,000 
Singapore Airlines Limited 10,000 10,000 
SIA Engineering Company Limited 10,000 10,000 
Astrea 7 Pte Ltd 

-  4.125% Class A-1 Secured Bonds due 27 May 2032 (units) 
 

40,000 
 

40,000 
CapitaLand China Trust – units 100,000 100,000 
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Name of director and related corporations in which 
interests (fully paid ordinary shares unless 
otherwise stated) are held 

Holdings  
at beginning  

of the year 

Holdings  
at end of  
the year 

   
Mrs Jeanne Cheng   
 
Singapore Telecommunications Limited 11,180 11,180 
Singapore Technologies Engineering Ltd 10,000 10,000 
   
Ms Amelia Champion   
   
Singapore Telecommunications Limited 1,430 1,430 
CapitaLand Investment Limited 5,000 5,000 
CapitaLand Integrated Commercial Trust – units 773 773 
Paragon REIT – units 3,128 3,128 
Mapletree Treasury Services Limited 

- MAPLSP 3.7% Perpetual Bond call date 12 Aug 2024       − S$250,000 
Singapore Airlines Limited 

- 5.25% Bonds due 21 March 2034       − US$200,000 
 
Ms Loong Hui Chee   
   
CapitaLand Ascendas Real Estate Investment Trust – units 14,615 14,615 
CapitaLand Ascott Trust – units 159,248   160,388 
CapitaLand Investment Limited 21,531 21,531 
CapitaLand Integrated Commercial Trust – units 69,043 69,043 
Mapletree Treasury Services Limited 

- 3.95% Perpetual Bond S$250,000 S$250,000 
Singapore Airlines Limited 20,669 20,669 
Singapore Technologies Engineering Ltd  1,495 1,495 
Singapore Telecommunications Limited 117,108 117,108 
Temasek Financial (IV) Private Limited 

- 2.70% T2023 Temasek S$ Bond due 25 October 2023 S$13,000 − 
 
 
Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests 
in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the 
beginning of the financial year, or at the end of the financial year. 
 
Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 
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Share options 
 
During the financial year, there were: 
 

(i)  no options granted by the Company to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company; and 
 

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company. 
 
As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
──────────────────────── 
MR STANLEY HUANG TIAN GUAN 
Chairman 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
──────────────────────── 
MS LOONG HUI CHEE 
Director 

 
28 May 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Member of SP PowerAssets Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SP PowerAssets Limited (the “Company”) which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 
2024 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended 
on that date. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 
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We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report, including in relation to the matter. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matter below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Goodwill impairment review 
 
The Company has recorded an asset of $2,166.8 million which represents goodwill on the acquisition of the 
transmission business as discussed in Note 6. The goodwill balance is reviewed annually for impairment based 
on fair value which is determined by discounting expected future cash flows as discussed in Note 6. The 
assessment of fair value requires significant management judgement in establishing future cash flows, the 
terminal value and the discount rate. 
 
Our audit procedures included assessing the key assumptions used in arriving at the fair value, including the 
terminal value, forecast future cash flows, and the discount rate. In performing our audit procedures, we 
assessed the reasonableness of cash flow projections by assessing the reliability of management’s budgeting 
process, the Company’s own historical data and performance and the market and economic conditions 
prevailing at the reporting date. In relation to other key inputs, such as the terminal value and discount rate, we 
compared these inputs to externally available industry, economic and financial data. We further reviewed the 
adequacy of the disclosure in the financial statements in Note 6 of the financial statements.  
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the directors’ statement. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Philip Ling Soon Hwa. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Ernst & Young LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
28 May 2024 



SP PowerAssets Limited 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
8 

Balance sheet 
As at 31 March 2024 
 
 Note 

 
2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 4 11,128.5 10,758.5 
Intangible assets 6 2,177.2 2,171.0 
Derivative assets 7 52.6 139.3 

  13,358.3 13,068.8 
Current assets    
Inventories 8 31.4 37.3 
Trade and other receivables 9 402.9 346.3 
Derivative assets 7 27.7 0.4 
Cash and cash equivalents 10 # 0.1 
  462.0 384.1 
Total assets  13,820.3 13,452.9 
Regulatory deferral accounts (“RDA”) debit balances  11 80.0 214.3 
Total assets and RDA debit balances  13,900.3 13,667.2 

    
Equity    
Share capital 12 2,512.4 2,512.4 
Hedging reserve 13 47.5 93.1 
Accumulated profits  2,828.5 2,694.6 
Total equity  5,388.4 5,300.1 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Debt obligations 14 2,068.7 2,281.2 
Derivative liabilities 7 208.2 299.6 
Deferred tax liabilities 15 1,474.9 1,469.4 
Deferred income 16 115.9 124.9 
Deferred construction cost compensation 17 256.2 256.2 
Lease liabilities 5 0.2 4.2 
  4,124.1 4,435.5 
Current liabilities    
Debt obligations 14 199.5 − 
Derivative liabilities 7 99.5 2.5 
Current tax payable  119.3 82.0 
Trade and other payables 18 3,952.0 3,807.1 
Lease liabilities  5 3.9 3.6 

  4,374.2 3,895.2 
Total liabilities  8,498.3 8,330.7 
Total equity and liabilities  13,886.7 13,630.8 
Regulatory deferral accounts (“RDA”) related deferred tax liabilities 11 13.6 36.4 
Total equity, liabilities and RDA related deferred tax liabilities 

 13,900.3 13,667.2 
#Less than $0.1 million 
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Income statement 
Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

   Note 2024 2023 
  $ million $ million 

    
Revenue 19 1,960.7 1,721.6 
Other income 20 80.0 88.2 
Expenses    
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 (670.2) (661.6) 
- Amortisation of intangible assets 6 (1.1) (0.9) 
- Maintenance  (122.1) (107.0) 
- Management fees  (159.8) (159.3) 
- Property taxes  (60.9) (50.8) 
- Agency fee   (30.4) (28.9) 
- Support services   (36.5) (33.8) 
- Other operating expenses  (61.4) (59.4) 

Operating profit  898.3 708.1 
Finance income 21 0.3 0.3 
Finance costs 22 (147.6) (146.1) 
Profit before taxation  751.0 562.3 
Tax expense 23 (134.6) (104.3) 
Profit for the year 24 616.4 458.0 
Net movement in RDA balances related to profit or loss and the related 

deferred tax movement 11 (111.5) 4.4 
Profit for the year and net movement in RDA balances  504.9 462.4 
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Statement of comprehensive income 
Year ended 31 March 2024 
 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

   
   
Profit for the year and net movement in RDA balances 504.9 462.4 
   
Other comprehensive income   
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax 22.4 53.3 
Net change in fair value of:   
- Cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax  (69.7) (43.2) 
- Cash flow hedges on recognition of the hedged items on balance sheet,  

net of tax 1.7 1.4 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (45.6) 11.5 
Total comprehensive income for the year 459.3 473.9 

 
 



SP PowerAssets Limited 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
11 

Statement of changes in equity  
Year ended 31 March 2024  
 

 

Note 
 
 

Share 
Capital 

$ million 

Hedging 
reserve 
$ million 

Accumulated 
profits 

$ million 

Total 
equity 

$ million 
      
At 1 April 2022  2,512.4 81.6 2,595.4 5,189.4 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Profit for the year and net movement in RDA balances  −   − 462.4 462.4 
      
Other comprehensive income      
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 

hedges, net of tax  − 53.3 − 53.3 
Net change in fair value of:      
- Cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss, net of 

tax   − (43.2) − (43.2) 
- Cash flow hedges on recognition of the hedged items 

on balance sheet, net of tax  − 1.4 − 1.4 
Total other comprehensive income  − 11.5 − 11.5 
Total comprehensive income for the year  − 11.5 462.4 473.9 
      
Transaction with owner, recognised directly in equity      
Contributions by and distribution to owner      
Dividends declared 29 − − (363.2) (363.2) 

At 31 March 2023  2,512.4 93.1 2,694.6 5,300.1 
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Statement of changes in equity  
Year ended 31 March 2024 (cont'd) 
 

 

Note 
 
 

Share 
capital 

$ million 

Hedging 
reserve 
$ million 

Accumulated 
profits 

$ million 

Total 
Equity 

$ million 
      
At 1 April 2023  2,512.4 93.1 2,694.6 5,300.1 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Profit for the year and net movement in RDA balances  − − 504.9 504.9 
      
Other comprehensive income      
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 

hedges, net of tax 
 

− 22.4 − 22.4 
Net change in fair value of:      
- Cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss, net of 

tax  
 

− (69.7) −    (69.7) 
- Cash flow hedges on recognition of the hedged items 

on balance sheet, net of tax 
 

− 1.7 − 1.7 
Total other comprehensive income  − (45.6) − (45.6) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  − (45.6) 504.9 459.3 
      
Transaction with owner, recognised directly in equity      
Contributions by and distribution to owner      
Dividends declared 29 − − (371.0) (371.0) 
At 31 March 2024  2,512.4 47.5 2,828.5 5,388.4 
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Statement of cash flows  
Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

   

 Note 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit for the year and net movement in RDA balances  504.9 462.4 
Adjustments for:    
Tax expense 23 134.6 104.3 
Depreciation and amortisation  4,6 671.3 662.5 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets 24 0.1 (0.8) 
Deferred income 16 (9.0) (9.1) 
Inventories written down, net 8 9.6 6.0 
Write-back of allowance for expected credit loss on trade 

receivables, net 9 (1.4) (2.0) 
Finance income 21 (0.3) (0.3) 
Finance costs 22 147.6 146.1 
Exchange (gain)/loss, net 24 (1.2) 0.6 
Net movements in RDA balances related to profit or loss and the 

related deferred tax movement  
 

11 111.5 (4.4) 
  1,567.7 1,365.3 
Changes in working capital:    
Inventories  (3.7) (8.5) 
Trade and other receivables  (61.9) (3.6) 
Trade and other payables  (41.7) 35.5 
Funding for regulatory accounts 11 − 14.2 
Cash generated from operations  1,460.4 1,402.9 
Interest received  0.3 0.3 
Income tax paid  (82.4) (50.6) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  1,378.3 1,352.6 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (975.5) (798.5) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (7.2) (2.6) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets  5.2 7.2 
Net cash used in investing activities  (977.5) (793.9) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Interest paid  (39.8) (47.5) 
Repayment of bond  − (723.8) 
(Repayment of)/proceeds from related company loans  (357.5) 215.9 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 5 (3.6) (3.4) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (400.9) (558.8) 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (0.1) (0.1) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  0.1  0.2 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 10 # 0.1 
 

# Less than $0.1 million 
 

During the financial year, tax-exempt dividend declared to the immediate holding company in relation to the 
financial year ended 31 March 2023 of $371.0 million (2023: $363.2 million) were settled via loans from a related 
company. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 May 2024. 
 
 

1 Domicile and activities 
 
SP PowerAssets Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered 
office at 2 Kallang Sector, SP Group Building, Singapore 349277. 
 
The principal activities of the Company are those relating to the provision of services in connection with the 
transmission and distribution of electricity. 
 
The immediate and ultimate holding companies are Singapore Power Limited and Temasek Holdings (Private) 
Limited respectively. Both companies are incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. 
 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”). 

 
2.2 Basis of measurement 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies set out below. 
 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest 0.1 million, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
2.4 Use of estimates and judgements 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
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Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements is discussed below: 
 
Impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets 
 
Impairment reviews in respect of goodwill and intangible assets are performed at least annually. More regular 
reviews are performed if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events indicate potential impairment. 
The Company uses the present value of future cash flows to determine the recoverable amounts of the cash 
generating units. In calculating the recoverable amounts, significant management judgement is required in 
forecasting cash flows of the cash generating units, in estimating the terminal growth values and in selecting an 
appropriate discount rate. Details of key assumptions made are set out in Note 6. 
 
Regulatory deferral accounts  
 
Regulatory deferral account debit or credit balances represent timing differences between revenue recognised 
for financial reporting purposes (as set out in Note 3.13) and revenue earned for regulatory purposes. Revenue 
earned for regulatory purposes is estimated based on the revenue allowed by the Energy Market Authority 
(“EMA”) (in accordance with the price regulation framework), taking into consideration the services rendered 
and volume of electricity delivered to consumers. Note 3.11 sets out the accounting policy for regulatory deferral 
accounts. 
 

2.5 Changes in accounting policies 
 
Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I)s and Interpretation to SFRS(I) 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the 
current financial year, the Company has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023. Other than the below, the application of the 
amendments to accounting standards and interpretations did not have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 

 
New accounting standards and amendments 
 
The Company has applied the following SFRS(I)s, amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I) for the first time 
for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2023: 

 
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction 
 
The Company has adopted Amendments to SFRS(I)1-12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction from 1 April 2023. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition 
exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences – e.g. leases 
 
The Company previously accounted for deferred tax on leases by applying the ‘integrally linked’ approach, 
resulting in a similar outcome as under the amendments, except that the deferred tax asset or liability was 
recognised on a net basis. Following the amendments, the Company has recognised a separate deferred tax 
asset in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets. However, 
there was no impact on the balance sheets because the balances qualify for offset under paragraph 74 of SFRS(I) 
1-12. There was also no impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1 April 2023 as a result of the change. The 
key impact for the Company relates to disclosure of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in Note 
15. 
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3 Material accounting policy information 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these financial 
statements, and have been consistently applied by the Company, which addresses changes in accounting 
policies due to the adoption of new and revised standards. 

 
3.1 Foreign currencies 

 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at the exchange 
rate at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at 
the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost 
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at 
the exchange rate prevailing on the date which the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign 
currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. 
 
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising 
on the translation of qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
3.2 Property, plant and equipment 

 
Recognition and measurement  
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 
to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located and capitalised borrowing cost. Capitalisation of borrowing costs will cease 
when the asset is ready for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on 
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment. 
 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net 
within other income/other operating expenses in profit or loss. 
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Subsequent costs 
 
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow 
to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is 
derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. 

 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets 
are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that 
component is depreciated separately. 
 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Freehold land and construction-in-progress are not 
depreciated. 
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 
Leasehold land  Over the term of the lease ranging from 
  20 to 99 years 
Buildings and tunnels  30 to 40 years or the lease term, if shorter 
Transformers and switchgear  30 years 
Other plant and machinery   
- Works and other equipment  3 to 10 years 
- Standby electricity generator and other machinery  15 to 30 years 

Mains  30 years 
Other fixed assets (principally meters and motor vehicles)  3 to 10 years 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

 
3.3 Intangible assets 

 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill arising from acquisition represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of 
identifiable net assets acquired. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested for impairment on an annual 
basis as described in Note 3.5. 
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Other intangible assets 
 
Deferred expenditure relates mainly to contributions paid by the Company in accordance with regulatory 
requirements towards capital expenditure costs incurred by electricity generation companies, and is stated at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Deferred expenditure is amortised on 
a straight-line basis over the period in which the Company derives benefits from the capital contribution 
payments, which is generally the useful life of the relevant equipment ranging from 7 to 23 years. 
 
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years. 
 
Computer software development in-progress is stated at cost. No amortisation is provided until it is ready for 
use.  

 
3.4 Financial instruments 

 
Non-derivative financial assets  
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments. At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 
are expensed in profit or loss. 
 
Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf 
of third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition. 
 

Subsequent measurement  
 
Investments in debt instruments  
 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the 
asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset.  
 
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 
Derecognition 
 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the 
financial asset. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. For financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
Subsequent measurement 
 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 
Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the balance sheet when, and only 
when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The rights of offset must not be contingent on a future event and 
must be enforceable in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency of all the counterparties to the contract. 

 
Ordinary shares 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting  
 
The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk 
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the host 
contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria are met.  
 
Derivatives are initially measured at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are generally recognised in profit or loss.  
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The Company designates certain derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments as hedging instruments in 
qualifying hedging relationships. At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Company documents 
the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Company also documents the 
economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the changes 
in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other. 
 
The Company applies hedge accounting for certain hedging relationships which qualify for hedge accounting. 
 
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 
 

• cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment; or 

 

• fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability 
or an unrecognised firm commitment 

 
Cash flow hedges 
 
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable 
to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that 
could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is included in the carrying 
amount of the asset when the asset is recognised. In other cases, the amount accumulated in equity is 
reclassified to profit and loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. If the hedging 
instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the 
designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.  
 
When a cash flow hedge is discontinued, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income will remain in the cash flow hedge reserve until the future cash flows occur if the 
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur or reclassified to profit or loss immediately if the hedged 
future cash flows are no longer expected to occur. 
 

Fair value hedges 
 
Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge are recognised in 
profit or loss. The hedged item is adjusted to reflect changes in its fair value in respect of the risk being hedged; 
the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss with an adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the hedged item. 
 
Hedges directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform  
 
Phase 2 amendments: Replacement of interest rates – when there is no longer uncertainty arising from interest 
rate benchmark reform (policy applicable for financial year ended 31 March 2023) 
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When the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument 
changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform and therefore there is no longer uncertainty arising about 
the cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument, the Company amends the hedged 
documentation of that hedging relationship to reflect the change(s) required by interest rate benchmark reform. 
A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform 
if the following conditions are met: 
 

• the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and 
• the new basis for determining the contractual cash flow is economically equivalent to the previous basis 

– i.e. the basis immediately before the change. 
 
For this purpose, the hedge designation is amended only to make one or more of the following changes: 
 

• designating an alternative benchmark rate as the hedged risk; 

• updating the description of hedged item, including the description of the designated portion of the 
cash flows or fair value being hedged; or 

• updating the description of the hedging instrument. 
 
The Company amends the description of the hedging instrument only if the following conditions are met: 
 

• it makes a change required by interest rate benchmark reform by changing the basis for determining 
the contractual cash flows of the hedging instrument or using another approach that is economically 
equivalent to changing the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the original hedging 
instrument; and 

• the original hedging instrument is not derecognised. 

 
The Company amends the formal hedge documentation by the end of the reporting period during which a 
change required by interest rate benchmark reform is made to the hedged risk, hedged item or hedging 
instrument. These amendments in the formal hedge documentation do not constitute the discontinuation of the 
hedging relationship or the designation of a new hedging relationship. 
 
If changes are made in addition to those changes required by interest rate benchmark reform described above, 
then the Company first considers whether those additional changes result in the discontinuation of the hedge 
accounting relationship. If the additional changes do not result in discontinuation of the hedge accounting 
relationship, then the Company amends the formal hedge documentation for changes required by interest rate 
benchmark reform as mentioned above. 
 
When the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged future cash flows had been based is changed as 
required by interest rate benchmark reform, for the purpose of determining whether the hedged future cash 
flows are expected to occur, the Company deems that the hedging reserve recognised in other comprehensive 
income for the hedging relationship is based on the alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future 
cash flows will be based. 
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3.5 Impairment 
 
Non-derivative financial assets  
 
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects 
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will 
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms. 
 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 
 
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset potentially in default when contractual payments are 180 days past 
due. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 
Non-financial assets  
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have 
indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated each year at the 
same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the 
purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that 
the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal reporting purposes.  
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Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then 
to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased 
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. Such reversal of impairment is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
3.6 Accrued revenue 

 
Revenue accrual estimates are made to account for the unbilled amount at the reporting date. 

 
3.7 Provisions 

 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of 
the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

 
3.8 Government grants 

 
Capital grants are recognised on a straight-line basis and taken to profit or loss over the periods necessary to 
match the depreciation of the assets purchased with the government grants. Operating grants are presented 
within other income and are taken to profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the 
expenses are incurred.  

 
3.9 Deferred construction cost compensation 

 
Deferred construction cost compensation received to defray costs relating to the construction of an asset are 
accounted for as a government grant. Note 3.8 sets out the government grant accounting policy. 

 
3.10 Deferred income 

 
Deferred income comprises (i) government grant for the purchase of depreciable assets and (ii) contributions 
made by certain customers towards the cost of capital projects received prior to 1 July 2009. 

 
Government grants and customer contributions 
 
Deferred income is recognised on a straight-line basis and taken to profit or loss over the periods necessary to 
match the depreciation of the assets purchased with the government grants and customers’ contribution.  
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3.11 Regulatory deferral account (“RDA”) debit or credit balances 
 
Use of system charges  
 
Regulatory deferral account debit or credit balances represent timing differences between revenue recognised 
for financial reporting purposes and revenue earned for regulatory purposes.  
 
Movements in the regulatory deferral account debit or credit balances are recognised in profit or loss over the 
periods necessary to adjust revenue recognised for financial reporting purposes to revenue earned for 
regulatory purposes based on services rendered. 
 
At the end of each regulatory period, adjustments for amounts to be recovered or refunded are taken to profit 
or loss as net movement in regulatory deferral account balances. 

 
3.12 Price regulation and licence 

 
The Company’s operations in Singapore are regulated under the Electricity Licence for Transmission Licensee 
issued by the EMA of Singapore. 
 
Allowed revenue to be earned from the transmission of electricity is regulated based on certain formulae and 
parameters set out in the licence, relevant acts and codes. 
 
Revenue recognised for financial reporting purposes may differ from revenue earned for regulatory purposes 
due to volume variances. This may result in adjustments that may increase or decrease tariffs in succeeding 
periods. Amounts to be recovered or refunded are brought to account as adjustments to net movement in 
regulatory deferral account debit or credit balances in the income statement in the period in which the 
Company becomes entitled to the recovery or liable for the refund. 
 
The Company’s capital expenditure may differ from its regulatory plan and is subject to a review by the EMA. 
The results of the variances in capital expenditure may be translated into price adjustments, if any, in the 
following reset period. 
 
The use of system charges are approved by the EMA for a 5-year regulatory period in accordance with the 
price regulation framework. 

 
3.13 Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring promised services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  
 
Revenue is recognised when the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised 
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the service. A performance obligation 
may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to 
the satisfied performance obligation.  

 
Use of system charges 
 
Revenue for financial reporting purposes is recognised over time based on tariff billings to customers when the 
volume of electricity is delivered. 
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3.14 Leases  
 
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 
As lessor 
 
Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term. Rental income under operating leases 
are recognised in profit or loss over the term of the lease.  

 
As lessee  
 
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 
(i)  Right-of-use assets 

 
The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement or on modification date of the 
lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at 
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life 
of the asset.  
 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to Note 3.5 for the accounting policy. 

 
(ii) Lease liabilities 

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate.  
 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses 
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the payment occurs.  
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In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in 
the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 
used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset.  

 
(iii) Short-term leases 

 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
leasehold land (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases 
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
3.15 Finance income and costs 

 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using 
the effective interest method. 
 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, fair value 
gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised 
on financial assets (other than trade receivables), gains or losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in 
profit or loss, amortisation of transaction costs capitalised and interest expense on lease liabilities. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 
3.16 Tax expense 

 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in the other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for: 
 
- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and 
(ii) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and 
 

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain 
tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals for 
tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including 
interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may 
involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the 
Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax 
liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
 
The movement in a deferred tax asset or liability that arises from the temporary differences created as a result 
of recognising regulatory deferral account balances are presented in the income statement net of the 
movement in regulatory deferral account balances related to profit or loss. 

 
3.17 Segment reporting 

 
The Company determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided internally 
to the chief operating decision maker. 
 
The Company has only one operating segment – electricity transmission and distribution, and hence no 
separate disclosures are made in the financial statements. 
 

3.18 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
 
A number of new amendments to standards that have been issued but not yet effective have not been early 
adopted in preparing these financial statements. The following amended standards are not expected to have 
a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements: 
 

• Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
• Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
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4 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
Freehold 

land Leasehold land 
Buildings and 

tunnels Switchgear Transformers 
Other plant  

and machinery Mains 
Other fixed 

assets 
Construction-

in-progress Total 
 $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million 
Cost           
At 1 April 2022 0.3 504.0 1,854.3 3,445.9 1,896.8 503.7 7,454.6 275.0 1,614.9 17,549.5 
Additions − − − − − 1.9 − 26.0 743.6 771.5 
Lease Modification (Note 5) − − 7.4 − − − − − − 7.4 
Disposals − − − (80.0) (28.4) (7.4) (106.7) (10.9) − (233.4) 
Reclassification − 0.2 17.8 137.5 69.1 123.4 447.7 1.1 (796.8) − 
At 31 March 2023 0.3 504.2 1,879.5 3,503.4 1,937.5 621.6 7,795.6 291.2 1,561.7 18,095.0 
Additions − − − − − 2.9 − 25.6 1,017.0 1,045.5 
Disposals − (48.4) (0.3) (61.4) (23.9) (52.1) (3.3) (6.6) − (196.0) 
Reclassification − 4.5 34.0 100.4 114.1 54.3 323.3 33.8 (664.4) − 
At 31 March 2024 0.3 460.3 1,913.2 3,542.4 2,027.7 626.7 8,115.6 344.0 1,914.3 18,944.5 
           
Accumulated depreciation            
At 1 April 2022 − 182.8 744.0 1,844.7 723.2 328.4 2,927.6 151.1 − 6,901.8 
Depreciation − 10.0 66.3 156.2 67.4 57.4 266.0 38.3 − 661.6 
Disposals − − − (76.8) (25.3) (7.4) (106.8) (10.6) − (226.9) 
At 31 March 2023 − 192.8 810.3 1,924.1 765.3 378.4 3,086.8 178.8 − 7,336.5 
Depreciation − 10.0 70.1 156.0 71.2 55.3 273.8 33.8 − 670.2 
Disposals − (48.3) (0.3) (58.2) (22.0) (52.1) (3.3) (6.5) − (190.7) 
At 31 March 2024 − 154.5 880.1 2,021.9 814.5 381.6 3,357.3 206.1 − 7,816.0 
           
Carrying amounts           
At 31 March 2023 0.3 311.4 1,069.2 1,579.3 1,172.2 243.2 4,708.8 112.4 1,561.7 10,758.5 
At 31 March 2024 0.3 305.8 1,033.1 1,520.5 1,213.2 245.1 4,758.3 137.9 1,914.3 11,128.5 
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Expenses capitalised 
 
The following expenses were capitalised in property, plant and equipment during the year: 

 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Management fees (staff cost) 96.0 84.9 

 
As at 31 March 2024, property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets of $309.8 million (2023: $319.2 
million) relating to leasehold land, building and office under leasing arrangements. Details are presented in Note 
5. 

 
 

5 Right-of-use assets/ Lease liabilities 
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised within property, plant and equipment 
and the movements during the year: 

 

 
Leasehold 

land 
$ million 

Buildings and 
tunnels 

$ million 
Total 

$ million 
    
At 1 April 2022 321.2 3.8 325.0 
Lease modification − 7.4 7.4 
Reclassification 0.2 − 0.2 
Depreciation (10.0) (3.4) (13.4) 
At 31 March 2023 311.4 7.8 319.2 
Disposals (0.1) − (0.1) 
Reclassification 4.5 − 4.5 
Depreciation (10.0) (3.8) (13.8) 
At 31 March 2024 305.8 4.0 309.8 

 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under trade and other payables) and the 
movements during the year: 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million  

  
At 1 April 7.8 3.8 
Lease modification − 7.4 
Accretion of interest 0.2 # 
Payments (3.9) (3.4) 
At 31 March 4.1 7.8 
   
Current  3.9 3.6 
Non-current 0.2 4.2 

 4.1 7.8 

 
# Less than $0.1 million 

 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 26. 

  



SP PowerAssets Limited 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

 

30 
 

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million  

  
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 13.8 13.4 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0.2 # 
Expenses relating to short-term leases (included in other operating expenses) 0.4 0.4 

 14.4 13.8 

 
# Less than $0.1 million 
 
The Company had total cash outflow for leases of $4.3 million (2023: $3.8 million) for the financial year ended 
31 March 2024. 

 
 

6 Intangible assets 
 

 

Goodwill on 
acquisition 

$ million 

Deferred 
expenditure 

$ million 

 Computer 
software 
$ million 

Computer 
software 

development 
in-progress 

$ million 
Total 

$ million 
Cost      
At 1 April 2022 2,166.8 110.9 40.0 0.1 2,317.8 
Additions − 1.3 .− 1.3 2.6 
At 31 March 2023 2,166.8 112.2 40.0 1.4 2,320.4 
Additions − 0.7 .− 6.6 7.3 
Disposals − − (0.1) .− (0.1) 
Reclassifications − − 0.2 (0.2) .− 
At 31 March 2024 2,166.8 112.9 40.1 7.8 2,327.6 
      
Accumulated amortisation      
At 1 April 2022 − 109.6 38.9 .− 148.5 
Amortisation  − 0.4 0.5 .− 0.9 
At 31 March 2023 − 110.0 39.4 .− 149.4 
Amortisation  − 0.6 0.5 .− 1.1 
Disposals − − (0.1) .− (0.1) 
At 31 March 2024 − 110.6 39.8 .− 150.4 
      
Carrying amounts      
At 31 March 2023 2,166.8 2.2 0.6 1.4 2,171.0 

At 31 March 2024 2,166.8 2.3 0.3 7.8 2,177.2 
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Impairment test for goodwill 
 
The Company as a whole is considered a CGU. 
 
The recoverable amount of the CGU is based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The 
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined to be higher than its carrying amount hence no impairment is 
necessary. 
 
Fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the CGU and is 
based on the following key assumptions: 
 

1.  Cash flows are projected based on a 5-year business plan.  
 

2.  Cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 7.04% (2023: 6.89%) per annum that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the CGU. 

 
3.   Terminal value is calculated based on a multiple of 1.3 times (2023: 1.3 times) of the carrying amounts of 

property, plant and equipment. 

 
Expenses capitalised 
 
The following expenses were capitalised in intangible assets during the year: 

 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Management fees (staff cost) 0.3 − 
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7 Derivative assets and liabilities 
 
 2024 2023 

 
Outstanding 

notional amounts Assets Liabilities 
Outstanding 

notional amounts Assets Liabilities 
 $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million 

       
Current:       
       
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 229.9 .− (95.9) .− .− .− 
Interest rate swaps 1,188.5 25.9 (0.1) 100.0 .− (0.2) 
Foreign exchange forwards 218.4 1.8 (3.5) 171.4 0.4 (2.3) 
       
       
  27.7 (99.5)  0.4 (2.5) 
       
              
Non-current:       
       
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,919.1 .− (198.5) 2,149.1 .− (296.4) 
Interest rate swaps 1,560.7 52.5 (2.8) 2,749.1 139.2 (2.5) 
Foreign exchange forwards 72.7 0.1 (6.9) 56.5 0.1 (0.7) 

       

       

 
 52.6 (208.2)  139.3 (299.6) 
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Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The Company’s derivative transactions are entered into under International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
(“ISDA”) Master Agreements. The ISDA agreements create a right of set-off of recognised amounts that is 
enforceable only following an event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparties. 
As such, these agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting under SFRS(I) 1-32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation.  
  
The Company and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously but have the right to set off in the case of default and insolvency or bankruptcy. 
  
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement that are not 
otherwise set-off are as follows: 
 

Types of financial  
assets / liabilities 

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

assets / liabilities 

Related amounts not 
offset in the balance 

sheet – financial 
instruments 

Net 
amounts 

 $ million $ million $ million 
2024    
Derivative assets 80.3 (38.1) 42.2 
    
2023    
Derivative assets 139.7 (64.0) 75.7 
    
 
2024    
Derivative liabilities 307.7 (38.1) 269.6 
    
2023    
Derivative liabilities 302.1 (64.0) 238.1 
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Hedge Accounting 
 
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Company held various types of derivative financial instruments and formally designated a portion of them in cash flow and fair value 
hedge relationships for accounting purposes, in accordance with the requirements of SFRS(I) 9. The following table summarises the derivative financial instruments in the 
balance sheet and the effects of hedge accounting on the Company’s financial position and performance. 
 

 ---- Hedge instrument ---- ------------ Hedged item ----------- 
  Changes in fair value used for calculating  

--------------- hedge ineffectiveness -------------  

 

Outstanding 
notional 
amounts 
$ million 

Assets/ 
(liabilities) 

$ million 

Carrying  
amount of  

assets/ 
(liabilities) 

$ million 

Financial 
statement line 
that includes  
the hedged 

 item 

Accumulated 
amount of 
 fair value 

adjustments 
$ million 

Hedging 
instrument 

$ million 

 
Hedged  

Item 
$ million 

Hedge 
ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss 

$ million Hedge rates 
Maturity 

(Year) 
           
2024           
           
Cash flow hedge           
Interest rate risk – 

Finance cost 4,473.2 69.4 − − − (63.5) 63.5 − 0.3900% - 1.3275% Up to 2027 
           
Foreign exchange 

risk – Refer to 
Note 26 under 
Foreign currency 
risk 

291.1 (8.5) − − − (5.2) 5.2 − CHF/SGD: 1.397 - 1.546 
CNY/SGD: 0.186 - 0.193 
EUR/SGD: 1.430 - 1.657 
JPY/SGD: 0.009 - 0.013 

MYR/SGD: 0.280 – 0.330 
USD/SGD: 1.272 - 1.382 

Up to 2025 
Up to 2024 
Up to 2028 
Up to 2026 
Up to 2024 
Up to 2028 

           
Fair value hedge           
Interest rate risk  425.0 (2.4) (423.1) Debt 

obligations 
1.1 (0.9) 0.9 − 6 month Fall Back SOR/ 

SORA 
Up to 2032 

           
Foreign exchange 

risk  2,149.1 (285.9) (1,845.1) 
Debt 

obligations 300.7 (9.4) 14.7 5.3 
Refer to footnotes of 

Note 14 Up to 2027 
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 ------ Hedge instrument --- --------------- Hedged item ---------------- 
  Changes in fair value used for calculating  

------------- hedge ineffectiveness -----------  

 

Outstanding 
notional 
amounts 
$ million 

Assets/ 
(liabilities) 

$ million 

Carrying  
amount of  

assets/ 
(liabilities) 

$ million 

Financial 
statement 

line that 
includes  

the hedged 
 item 

Accumulated 
amount of 
 fair value 

adjustments 
$ million 

Hedging 
instrument 

$ million 

 
Hedged  

Item 
$ million 

Hedge 
ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss 

$ million Hedge rates 
Maturity 

(Year) 
           
2023           
           
Cash flow hedge           
Interest rate risk – 

Finance cost 4,473.2 119.2 − − .− (43.3) 43.3 .− 0.3900% - 1.3275% Up to 2027 
           
Foreign exchange risk 

– Refer to Note 26 
under Foreign 
currency risk 

227.9 (2.5) − − .− (0.8) 0.8 .− CHF/SGD: 1.397 - 1.524 
CNY/SGD: 0.191 - 0.195 
EUR/SGD: 1.424 - 1.656 
JPY/SGD: 0.010 - 0.013 

MYR/SGD: 0.303 
USD/SGD: 1.292 - 1.462 

Up to 2025 
Up to 2023 
Up to 2024 
Up to 2024 
Up to 2023 
Up to 2026 

           
Fair value hedge           
Interest rate risk  

525.0 (1.5) (431.6) 
Debt 

obligations (7.5) (7.5) 7.6 0.1 6 month SOR/ SORA Up to 2032 
           

Foreign exchange risk  2,149.1 (277.6) (1,849.6) 
Debt 

obligations 294.8 (77.3) 75.0 (2.3) 
Refer to footnotes of 

Note 14 Up to 2027 
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8 Inventories 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Cables 22.6 24.3 
Transformers 1.8 3.3 
Switchgear 5.2 7.6 
Spare parts and accessories 1.8 2.1 

 31.4 37.3 

 
In the financial year ended 31 March 2024, inventories recognised as an expense in the income statement 
amounted to $3.4 million (2023: $4.3 million). The write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted 
to $9.6 million (2023: $6.0 million). The utilization of inventory obsolescence provision upon sale of the inventory 
items amounted to $0.7 million (2023: $2.2 million). 

 
 

9 Trade and other receivables 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Trade receivables:   
- Third parties 113.8 121.4 
- Related companies 70.7 52.4 
- Immediate holding company − 5.0 
 184.5 178.8 
Impairment loss (0.2) (4.5) 
 184.3 174.3 
Accrued revenue 169.8 126.4 
Deposits 0.4 0.4 
 354.5 301.1 
Prepayments 48.4 45.2 
 402.9 346.3 

   
Trade receivables 
 
The average credit term is between 8 to 30 calendar days (2023: between 8 to 30 calendar days).  
 
Collateral in the form of bank guarantees and deposits are obtained from counterparties where appropriate. 
There were no amounts called upon during the year. 
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by types of customer is as 
follows: 
 

 
2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Contestable transmission/ distribution customers 138.3 133.6 
Non-contestable transmission/ distribution customers 14.0 10.1 
Project-based customers 28.5 22.1 
Others 3.5 8.5 

 184.3 174.3 

 
The Company provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. The 
provision rates are determined based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of trade receivables 
and on the estimation of the management. A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing the 
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history 
of each customer. 
 
The Company categorises trade receivables for potential write-off on the overdue trade receivables of 
customers that have failed to make contractual payments for more than 180 days. Where trade receivables have 
been impaired or written off, the Company continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the 
receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by geographic region, relates mainly to Singapore 
at the reporting date. 
 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk of trade receivables. 
 
The Company has policies in place to monitor its credit risk. Contractual deposits are collected and sufficient 
collaterals are obtained to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s customers are spread 
across diverse industries and ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of receivables 
to ensure minimal exposure to bad debts.  
 
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date is as follows: 

 

 
2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Not past due 177.3 162.9 
Past due 0-30 days 2.5 5.1 
Past due 31-90 days 0.6 1.6 
Past due 91-180 days 1.2 0.8 
Past due more than 180 days 2.9 8.4 

 184.5 178.8 
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Expected credit losses 
 
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables computed based on lifetime ECL 
are as follows: 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

   
At 1 April 4.5 6.5 
Impairment loss recognised 0.2 0.3 
Impairment loss utilized (2.9) .− 
Impairment loss written back (1.6) (2.3) 
At 31 March 0.2 4.5 

 
Trade and other receivables are denominated predominantly in the functional currency of the Company. 

 
 

10 Cash and cash equivalents 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Cash at bank and in hand # 0.1 
 

As at reporting date, cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the functional currency of the Company. 
 

# Less than $0.1 million 
 
 

11 Regulatory deferral accounts 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Net movement in RDA balances related to profit or loss  (134.3) 5.3 
RDA related deferred tax movement 22.8 (0.9) 
Net movement in RDA balances related to profit or loss and the related deferred tax 

movement (111.5) 4.4 
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Net movement in RDA balances related 

 ------------------ to profit or loss -----------------  

 

At 1  
April 2023 

$ million 

Balances arising in 
the period 

$ million 
(Recovery)/reversal 

$ million 

At 31  
March 2024 

$ million 
RDA debit balances     
Deferral of revenue based on service rendered  274.6 (36.9) (157.0) 80.7 
Over recovery of volume variance (60.3) (1.0) 60.6 (0.7) 
 214.3 (37.9) (96.4) 80.0 
     
RDA related deferred tax liabilities     
RDA related deferred tax liabilities (36.4) 6.4 16.4 (13.6) 

 

  

Net movement in RDA  
balances related 

 ---------------- to profit or loss --------------- 

Net movement in RDA balances 
related  

 ------ to balance sheet ------  

 

At 1  
April 2022 

$ million 

Balances arising  
in the period 

$ million 
(Recovery)/reversal 

$ million 

 
Funding 
$ million 

At 31 
March 2023 

$ million 
RDA debit balances      
Deferral of revenue based on service rendered  314.0 52.3 (77.5) (14.2) 274.6 
Over recovery of volume variance (90.8) (47.9) 78.4 .− (60.3) 
 223.2 4.4 0.9 (14.2) 214.3 
      
RDA related deferred tax liabilities      
RDA related deferred tax liabilities (37.9) (0.7) (0.2)    2.4 (36.4) 
      
 
The recovery/reversal period of RDA debit and credit balances are directed by EMA. 
 
The Company is currently the sole electricity transmission and distribution company in Singapore. The EMA may not terminate the Company’s Transmission Licence except 
by giving 25 years’ notice, or otherwise revoking the Transmission Licence in accordance with the Electricity Act (including where the EMA is satisfied that the Company has 
gone into compulsory liquidation or voluntary liquidation other than for the purpose of amalgamation or reconstruction, or the public interest or security of Singapore 
requires). The Company therefore considers the exposure on recovery of regulatory deferral debit balances to be minimal. 
 
In 2023, the EMA provided the Company with a funding of $14.2 million to offset the RDA debit balances. 
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12 Share capital 

 
2024 

No. of shares 
million 

2023 
No. of shares 

million 
   
Ordinary shares   
Issued and fully-paid, with no par value   
At 1 April and 31 March 2,512.4 2,512.4 

 
The holder of ordinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and is entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual 
assets. 

 
 

13 Hedging reserve 
 
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow 
hedging instruments related to highly probable forecast transactions. 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

Hedging reserves   
At beginning of year 93.1 81.6 
   
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges:   
- Interest rate risks 28.4 55.4 
- Foreign exchange risks (6.0) (2.1) 
   
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax:   
- Interest rate risks (69.7) (43.2) 
   
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges, on recognition of the hedged items on 

balance sheet, net of tax:  
  

- Foreign exchange risks 1.7 1.4 
   
At end of year 47.5 93.1 
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14 Debt obligations 
 
Principal amount Date of maturity 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
Fixed rate notes    
JPY 15 billion (1) April 2024 123.2 156.8 
SGD 75 million May 2024 76.3 84.7 
USD 700 million (2) November 2025 905.4 861.9 
JPY 7 billion (3) October 2026 59.8 69.6 
USD 600 million (4) September 2027 756.8 761.3 
SGD 100 million May 2029 98.2 96.8 
SGD 250 million September 2032 248.5 250.1 

  2,268.2 2,281.2 

      
Current   199.5 − 
Non-current  2,068.7 2,281.2 

  2,268.2 2,281.2 
 

(1) JPY 15 billion swapped to SGD 230.0 million   
(2) USD 700 million swapped to SGD 996.0 million   
(3)  JPY 7 billion swapped to SGD 114.7 million  
(4)  USD 600 million swapped to SGD 808.5 million   
 
The debt obligations are on bullet repayment terms. 
 
Interest rates on debt obligations denominated in Singapore dollars range from 3.40% to 5.07% (2023: 3.40% to 
5.07%) per annum. Interest rates on foreign currency debt obligations range from 1.95% to 3.25% (2023: 1.95% to 
3.25%) per annum.        
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A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows: 
 

 2023 -------------- Cash flows-------------- -----------------------------------Non-cash changes----------------------------------- 2024 

 

 
 

$ million 
Proceeds 
$ million 

Repayment 
$ million 

Interest 
paid 

$ million 
Additions 
$ million 

Foreign 
exchange 

movement 
$ million 

 
 

Changes in fair 
value  

$ million 
Interest 
$ million 

 
Reclassification 

$ million 
 

$ million 
Debt obligations           
Current .− .− .− .− .− .− .− .− 199.5 199.5 
Non-current 2,281.2 .− .− .− .− 1.1 (14.1) .− (199.5) 2,068.7 
Interest payable  8.8 .− .− (38.9) .− .− .−  39.1* .− 9.0 
           
Loans from a related company           
Current 3,164.5 .− (357.5) (0.6) 371.0 .− .− 112.0 .− 3,289.4 
           
Lease liabilities           
Current 3.6 .− (3.6) .− .− .− .− .− 3.9 3.9 
Non-current 4.2 .− .− (0.3) .− .− .− 0.2 (3.9) 0.2 
 5,462.3 .− (361.1) (39.8) 371.0 1.1 (14.1) 151.3 .− 5,570.7 

 
* Comprises interest on debt obligations and net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified from equity as disclosed in Note 22. 
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 2022 -------------- Cash flows-------------- ------------------------------------Non-cash changes------------------------------------ 2023 

 

 
 

$ million 
Proceeds 
$ million 

Repayment 
$ million 

Interest 
paid 

$ million 
Additions 
$ million 

Foreign 
exchange 

movement 
$ million 

 
 
 

Changes in fair 
value  

$ million 
Interest 
$ million 

 
Reclassification 

$ million 
 

$ million 
Debt obligations           
Current 777.8 − (723.8) .− − (53.5) (0.5) .− .− .− 
Non-current 2,416.7 − .− .− − (55.1) (80.4) .− .− 2,281.2 
Interest payable  9.5 − .− (46.0) − .− .− 45.3* .− 8.8 
           
Loans from a related company           
Current 2,490.0 215.9 .− (1.5) 363.2 .− .− 96.9 .− 3,164.5 
           
Lease liabilities           
Current 3.4 − (3.4) .# − .− .− .− 3.6 3.6 
Non-current 0.4 − .− .− 7.4 .− .− .− (3.6) 4.2 
 5,697.8 215.9 (727.2) (47.5) 370.6 (108.6) (80.9) 142.2 .− 5,462.3 

 
* Comprises interest on debt obligations and net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified from equity as disclosed in Note 22. 
#  Less than $0.1 million 
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15 Deferred taxation 
 
Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows: 

 

 
At 31	March 

2022 

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss 

(Note 23) 

Recognised 
in other  

comprehensive  
income 

(Note 23) 
At 31 March  

2023 

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss 

(Note 23) 

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 

(Note 23) 
At 31	March  

2024 
 $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million 
Deferred tax liabilities *Restated *Restated  *Restated    

Property, plant and equipment (1,447.9) (23.0) .– (1,470.9) (12.4) .– (1,483.3) 
Right-of-use assets (0.7) (0.7) .– (1.4) 0.7 .– (0.7) 

Intangible assets (0.4) (0.3) .– (0.7) (0.9) .– (1.6) 

Hedging reserve (16.8) .– (2.4) (19.2) .– 9.3 (9.9) 

 (1,465.8) (24.0) (2.4) (1,492.2) (12.6) 9.3 (1,495.5) 

Set off of tax 23.5   22.8   20.6 
Net deferred tax liabilities (1,442.3)   (1,469.4)   (1,474.9) 
        
Deferred tax assets        
Deferred income 22.8 (1.4) .– 21.4 (1.5) .– 19.9 

Lease liabilities 0.7 0.7 .– 1.4 (0.7) .– 0.7 

 23.5 (0.7) .– 22.8 (2.2) .– 20.6 

Set off of tax (23.5)   (22.8)   (20.6) 

Net deferred tax assets .–   .–   .– 

 
*Refer to Note 2.5 
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16 Deferred income 
 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Customers’ contributions 265.9 265.9 
Government grant for depreciable assets 0.5 0.5 
Accumulated accretion (150.5) (141.5) 
 115.9 124.9 
   
Movements in accumulated accretion are as follows:   
At 1 April 141.5 132.4 
Accretion for the year 9.0 9.1 
At 31 March 150.5 141.5 

 
 

17 Deferred construction cost compensation 
 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
   
Deferred construction cost compensation 256.2 256.2 

 
 

18 Trade and other payables 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
Trade payables:   
-  Third parties 64.5 64.0 
-  Related companies 44.0 35.3 
-  Immediate holding company 0.3 0.1 
Interest payable 9.0 8.8 
Deposits received 28.4 80.1 
Advance receipts 167.8 185.5 
Accrued operating expenditure 103.5 95.9 
Accrued capital expenditure 245.1 172.9 
Loans from a related company   
-  Loan balances 3,205.6 3,082.4 
-  Interest payable 83.8 82.1 

 3,952.0 3,807.1 
 
Payables denominated in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency comprise $7.3 million (2023: 
$7.8 million) of payables and accruals denominated in United States dollar (“USD”), $Nil (2023: $0.5 million) in 
Chinese Yuan (“CNY”), $2.2 million (2023: $1.1 million) in Japanese yen (“JPY”), $Nil (2023: $1.0 million) in Euro 
(“EUR”) and $Nil (2023: $0.9 million) in Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”).  
 
As at 31 March 2024, the loans from a related company are unsecured, repayable on demand and bear interest 
at rates ranging from 2.37% to 4.22% (2023: 2.37% to 4.19%) per annum.  
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19 Revenue 
 
Revenue comprises use of system charges and the service is transferred over time. 

 
Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations  
 
The Company has applied the practical expedient not to disclose information about its remaining performance 
obligations as the Company recognises revenue in the amount to which the Company has a right to invoice 
customers in amounts that correspond directly with the value to the customer of the Company’s performance 
completed to date. 

 
20 Other income 

 2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

   
Rental income 3.1 2.6 
Leasing income 5.5 5.8 
Disbursement recoverable jobs 27.0 29.9 
Sale of scrap 26.4 24.8 
Accretion of deferred income 9.0 9.1 
Grant income 2.0 2.9 
Others 7.0 13.1 

 80.0 88.2 

 
 

21 Finance income 
  

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

    
Interest income receivable/received from banks  0.3 0.3 

 
 

22 Finance costs 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

   
Interest expense on loans from a related company 112.0 96.9 
Interest expense on debt obligations 123.1 97.4 
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified  

from equity (84.0) (52.1) 
Loss/(gain) arising from financial assets/liabilities in a fair  

value hedge:   
- hedged items (15.7) (82.6) 
- hedging instruments 10.4 84.8 
Amortisation of capitalised transaction costs  1.6 1.7 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0.2  . # 

 147.6 146.1 

 
# Less than $0.1 million 

 
  



SP PowerAssets Limited 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 March 2024 
 

 

47 
 

23 Tax expense 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
Tax recognised in profit or loss   
   
Current tax expense   
Current year 120.4 80.0 
Over provision in respect of prior years (0.6) (0.4) 
 119.8 79.6 
Deferred tax expense   
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 15.1 24.6 
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior years (0.3) 0.1 
 14.8 24.7 
Total tax expense 134.6 104.3 

 
 2024 2023 

Tax recognised in other comprehensive 
income 

Before 
tax 

Tax 
(expense)/ 

credit 
Net of 

tax 
Before 

tax 

Tax 
(expense)/ 

credit  
Net of 

tax 
 $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million 

       
Effective portion of changes in fair value of 

cash flow hedges 27.0 (4.6) 22.4 64.2 (10.9) 53.3 
Net change in fair value of:       
- Cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or 

loss (84.0) 14.3 (69.7) (52.0) 8.8 (43.2) 
- Cash flow hedges on recognition of the 

hedged items on balance sheet 2.1 (0.4) 1.7 1.7 (0.3) 1.4 
 (54.9) 9.3 (45.6) 13.9 (2.4) 11.5 

 
 
 2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
Reconciliation of effective tax rate   
   
Profit before taxation 751.0 562.3 
   
Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2023: 17%) 127.7 95.6 
Non-deductible expenses 9.4 9.2 
Non-taxable income (1.6) (0.2) 
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior years   
-  current tax  (0.6) (0.4) 
-  deferred tax  (0.3) 0.1 

 134.6 104.3 
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24 Profit for the year 
 
The following items have been included in arriving at profit for the year: 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

Auditors of the Company 
- Audit fees 0.1 0.1 
- Non-audit fees – Audit-related services .# .# 
Exchange gain/(loss), net 1.2 (0.6) 
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (0.1) 0.8 

 
# Less than $0.1 million 
 
 

25 Related parties 
 
For the purpose of the financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if the Company 
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and the party are subject to common 
control or common significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 
 
The immediate and ultimate holding companies are Singapore Power Limited and Temasek Holdings (Private) 
Limited (“Temasek”) respectively. These companies are incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. Temasek is 
an investment company headquartered in Singapore with a diversified investment portfolio. Accordingly, all the 
subsidiaries of Temasek are related corporations and are subject to common control. The Company engages 
in a wide variety of transactions with related corporations in the normal course of business on terms similar to 
those available to other customers. Such transactions include but are not limited to sales and purchases of 
power, provision of consultancy and engineering services, leasing of cables and ducts, agency services and 
financial and banking services. The related party transactions are carried out on terms negotiated between the 
parties which are intended to reflect competitive terms. 
 
All electricity supplied to companies in the Temasek group are related party transactions. The Temasek group 
has extensive interests in a large number of companies. As the Company’s rates for electricity transmission and 
distribution are based on tariffs approved by the EMA, the Company has concluded that it is not meaningful to 
present information relating to such revenue. 
 
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, transactions with related parties are as follows: 
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 2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

Related companies   
- management fee expenses (256.1) (244.1) 
- maintenance expenses (11.7) (3.4) 
- agency fee expenses (30.4) (28.9) 
- support service expenses (1.8) (1.7) 
- service expenses, including leases (5.2) (6.8) 
- leasing income 5.5 5.8 
- service income 1.4 1.0 
- trustee fee income 0.4 0.4 
   
Immediate holding company   
- maintenance expenses  (20.0) (18.1) 
- support service expenses (34.7) (32.1) 

 
 

26 Financial risk management 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to foreign currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks which arise in the 
normal course of business. Generally, the Company’s overall objective is to manage and minimise exposure to 
such risks. The Company adopts the risk management policies and guidelines established by its immediate 
holding company, Singapore Power Limited, and has established processes for monitoring compliances with 
such policies. 
 
The Company uses forward foreign currency exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency 
interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to foreign currency and interest rate risks respectively. 
 
The Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. 
 
The material financial risks associated with the Company’s activities are each described below, together with 
details of the Company’s policies for managing the risks. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risks from borrowing activities, purchase, supply and installation 
contracts, and trade creditors which are denominated in a currency other than Singapore dollars. 
 
The objective of the Company’s risk management policies is to mitigate foreign exchange risk by utilising various 
hedging instruments. The Company therefore considers avoidable currency risk exposure to be minimal for the 
Company. 
 
The Company enters into cross-currency interest rate swaps to manage exposures arising from foreign currency 
borrowings including the United States Dollar (“USD”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”). Under cross-currency interest 
rate swaps, the Company agrees to exchange specified foreign currency principal and interest amounts at an 
agreed future date at a pre-determined exchange rate.  Such contracts enable the Company to mitigate the risk 
of adverse movements in foreign exchange rates.  Except where a foreign currency borrowing is taken with 
the intention of providing a natural hedge by matching the underlying cash flows, all foreign currency 
borrowings are swapped back to Singapore dollars. For foreign currency swaps that do not meet the 
requirements of hedge accounting, changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. 
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The Company uses forward foreign currency exchange contracts to substantially hedge foreign currency risk 
attributable to purchase transactions.  The maturities of the forward foreign currency exchange contracts are 
intended to match the forecasted progress payments of the supply and installation contracts. Whenever 
necessary, the forward foreign exchange contracts are either rolled over at maturity or translated into foreign 
currency deposits, whichever is more cost efficient. 
 
As at 31 March 2024, the Company has outstanding forward foreign currency exchange contracts with notional 
amounts of approximately $291.1 million (2023: $227.9 million). The net fair value of forward foreign currency 
exchange contracts as at 31 March 2024 is $8.5 million net liabilities (2023: $2.5 million net liabilities) comprising 
assets of $1.9 million (2023: $0.5 million) and liabilities of $10.4 million (2023: $3.0 million). These amounts were 
recognised as derivative assets and liabilities respectively. 

 
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 
 
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, if the functional currency of the Company had moved against each of the 
currencies as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, equity would have been 
affected as below: 

 
  

Equity 
(hedging reserve) 

  $ million 
Judgements of reasonably possible movements - Increase/(decrease)   
2024   
USD   
Increase of the SGD by 5 per cent against US Dollar  (4.1) 
Decrease of the SGD by 5 per cent against US Dollar  4.1 
   
EUR   
Increase of the SGD by 9 per cent against EUR Dollar  (5.0) 
Decrease of the SGD by 9 per cent against EUR Dollar  5.0 
   
JPY   
Increase of the SGD by 16 per cent against Japanese Yen  (11.4) 
Decrease of the SGD by 16 per cent against Japanese Yen  11.4 
 
2023   
USD   
Increase of the SGD by 5 per cent against US Dollar  (5.2) 
Decrease of the SGD by 5 per cent against US Dollar  5.2 
   
EUR   
Increase of the SGD by 9 per cent against EUR Dollar  (4.3) 
Decrease of the SGD by 9 per cent against EUR Dollar  4.3 
   
JPY   
Increase of the SGD by 15 per cent against Japanese Yen  (3.5) 
Decrease of the SGD by 15 per cent against Japanese Yen  3.5 
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The judgements of reasonably possible movements were determined using statistical analysis of the 90th 
percentile of the best and worst expected outcomes having regard to actual historical exchange rate data over 
the previous five years. Management considers that past movements are a reasonable basis for estimating 
possible movements in foreign currency exchange rates. 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Company manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a significant portion of its debt at fixed interest 
rates.  This is done by the (i) issuance of fixed rate debt; (ii) use of interest rate swaps to convert floating rate 
debt to fixed rate debt; or (iii) use of cross-currency interest rate swaps to convert fixed or floating rate non-
functional currency denominated debt to fixed rate functional currency denominated debt. 
 
The use of derivative financial instruments relates directly to the underlying existing and anticipated 
indebtedness. 

 
Managing interbank offered rates reform and associated risks  
 
A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, to replace interbank 
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to as “IBOR reform”).  
 
In the previous year, the Company holds interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps indexed to 
the Singapore Swap Offer Rate (“SOR”) for risk management purposes which are designated in hedging 
relationships. SOR has ceased publication after 30 June 2023, and it has been replaced by the Singapore 
Overnight Rate Average (“SORA”) as the alternative interest rate benchmark in Singapore. For cross-currency 
interest rate swaps and interest rate swaps that extend beyond the anticipated cessation date of SOR, the 
Company has completed the transition agreement for the affected periods with counterparties in 2022. In 
addition, appropriate fallback provisions with counterparties are also in place and the Company will rely on the 
Fallback Rate SOR for transition. 
 
As at 31 March 2024, the Company has interest rate and cross-currency swaps with notional amount of $4,898.2 
million (2023: $4,998.2 million). The Company classifies these swaps as cash flow and fair value hedges. The net 
fair value of swaps as at 31 March 2024 is $218.9 million net liabilities (2023: $159.9 million net assets) comprising 
assets of $78.4 million (2023: $139.2 million) and liabilities of $297.3 million (2023: $299.1 million).  These amounts 
were recognised as derivative assets and liabilities respectively. 
 
The Company’s excess funds are principally invested in bank deposits of varying maturities to match its cash 
flow needs, or deposited with a related company. 
 
At the reporting date, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held 
constant, profit before taxation and equity would have been affected as follows:  
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Profit 
before  

taxation 

Equity  
(hedging 
reserve) 

 $ million $ million 
Judgements of reasonably possible movements – increase/(decrease)   
2024   
Increase with all other variables held constant (13.3) 47.7 
Decrease with all other variables held constant 13.3 (49.4) 
   
2023   
Increase with all other variables held constant 12.3 78.2 
Decrease with all other variables held constant (12.4) (85.0) 

   
 
The judgements of reasonably possible movements were determined using statistical analysis of the 90th 
percentile of the best and worst expected outcomes having regard to actual historical interest rate data over 
the previous five years based on the six month Singapore Overnight Rate Average (2023: Singapore Swap Offer 
Rate), three month USD Secured Overnight Financing Rate (2023: USD London Interbank Offer Rate) and six 
month JPY Tokyo Overnight Average Rate. Management considers that past movements are a reasonable basis 
for determining possible movements in interest rates.   

 
As at 31 March 2024, the movements in interest rates used in the table above are as follows: 
 

• Singapore interest rates – 197 basis points (2023: 247 basis points) 

• United States interest rates – 325 basis points (2023: 296 basis points) 

• Japan interest rates – 6 basis points (2023: 6 basis points) 

 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or a counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. This arises principally from the Company’s financial assets, comprising 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative assets. 
 
The Company provides for lifetime ECL for all trade receivables using a provision matrix as disclosed in Note 9. 
For other receivables, the Company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of an asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting 
period. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, other receivables have been assessed to be subject to immaterial ECL. 
 
Surplus funds are invested in interest bearing deposits with financial institutions with good credit ratings 
assigned by international credit rating agencies. Counterparty risks are managed by limiting exposure to any 
individual counterparty. The Company’s portfolio of financial instruments is entered into with a number of 
creditworthy counterparties, thereby mitigating concentration of credit risk. The Company held cash and cash 
equivalents of less than $0.1 million (2023:	$0.1 million) which represents its maximum exposure on these assets. 
 
Counterparty risks on derivatives are generally restricted to any gain or loss when marked to market, and not 
on the notional amount transacted. As a prudent measure, the Company enters into derivatives only with 
financial institutions with good credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. Therefore, the 
possibility of a material loss arising from the non-performance by a counterparty is considered remote.   
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There is no significant concentration of credit risk of trade receivables. The credit quality of trade and other 
receivables that are not past due or impaired at the reporting date is of acceptable risk. In addition to customers’ 
deposits, the Company holds guarantees from creditworthy financial institutions to secure the obligations of 
certain customers. 
 
At reporting date, the Company has significant receivables arising from amounts due from related corporations.  
Management considers the probability of default remote. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The 
Company adopts prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining sufficient cash and liquid financial assets, 
and ensures the availability of funding through an adequate level of bank credit lines. Intercompany borrowings 
are obtained when necessary to meet its working capital requirements. 
 
The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities, including interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements. 
 
For swap hedging instruments that are cash flow hedges, the tables below indicate the periods that they are 
expected to impact profit or loss. 

 

 

Carrying 
amount 
$ million 

Contractual 
cash flows 

$ million 

Within 
1 year 

$ million 
1 – 2 years 

$ million 
2 – 5 years 

$ million 

More than 
5 years 

$ million 
2024       
Non-derivative financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables* (3,784.2) (3,784.2) (3,784.2) .– .– .– 
Lease liabilities (4.1) (4.2) (4.0) (0.1) (0.1) .– 
Debt obligations       
- current (199.5) (212.5) (212.5) .– .– .– 
- non-current (2,068.7) (2,361.4) (69.3) (991.8) (918.0) (382.3) 
       
Derivatives       
Derivative assets       
Interest rate swaps/cross-currency 

interest rate swaps  78.4 101.2 70.4 30.4 0.3 0.1 
Forward exchange contracts       
- Inflow  162.7 143.7 18.7 0.3 .– 
- Outflow  (160.8) (141.9) (18.6) (0.3) .– 
 1.9 1.9 1.8 0.1 .– .– 
Derivative liabilities       
Interest rate swaps/cross-currency 

interest rate swaps (297.3) (323.7) (130.4) (95.4) (96.8) (1.1) 
Forward exchange contracts       
- Inflow  126.9 80.2 27.6 19.1 .– 
- Outflow  (137.7) (83.8) (31.3) (22.6) .– 

 (10.4) (10.8) (3.6) (3.7) (3.5) .– 

 (6,283.9) (6,593.7) (4,131.8) (1,060.5) (1,018.1) (383.3) 
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Carrying 
amount 
$ million 

Contractual 
cash flows 

$ million 

Within 
1 year 

$ million 
1 – 2 years 

$ million 
2 – 5 years 

$ million 

More than 
5 years 

$ million 
2023       
Non-derivative financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables* (3,621.6) (3,621.6) (3,621.6) .– .– .– 
Lease liabilities (7.8) (7.8) (3.6) (4.0) (0.2) .– 
Debt obligations       
- non-current (2,281.2) (2,656.4) (76.9) (295.2) (1,888.4) (395.9) 
       
Derivatives       
Derivative assets       
Interest rate swaps/cross-currency 

interest rate swaps  139.2 167.8 77.0 61.5 28.7 0.6 

Forward exchange contracts       
- Inflow  72.9 60.8 12.1 .– .– 
- Outflow  (72.4) (60.4) (12.0) .– .– 
 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.1 .– .– 
Derivative liabilities       
Interest rate swaps/cross-currency 

interest rate swaps (299.1) (343.3) (39.1) (108.2) (195.5) (0.5) 

Forward exchange contracts       
- Inflow  152.3 108.6 25.8 17.9 .– 
- Outflow  (155.4) (111.0) (26.3) (18.1) .– 
 (3.0) (3.1) (2.4) (0.5) (0.2) .– 
 (6,073.0) (6,463.9) (3,666.2) (346.3) (2,055.6) (395.8) 
 

* Excluding advance receipts  
 
Capital management 
 
The Company is committed to an optimal capital structure while maintaining financial flexibility.  In order to 
achieve an optimal capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or reduce its borrowings. 
 
The Company monitors capital based on gross and net gearing ratios and capital includes debt and equity items 
as disclosed in the table below. Gearing ratio is calculated as net debts over shareholders’ equity and net debts. 
 

 
2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
 

Debt obligations 2,268.2 2,281.2 
   
Loans from a related company 3,289.4 3,164.5 
Total debts 5,557.6 5,445.7 
   
Less: Cash and cash equivalents .# (0.1) 
Net debts 5,557.6 5,445.6 
   
Total equity 5,388.4 5,300.1 
   
Total capital 10,946.0 10,745.8 
Net capital 10,946.0 10,745.7 

 
# Less than $0.1 million 
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There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the financial year. The 
Company is not subjected to any externally imposed capital requirements.  
 
 

27 Fair values 
 
Determination of fair values 
 
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods.  When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in 
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 

Debt obligations and derivative financial instruments 
 
Fair values are measured using market observable data as at reporting date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of 
the instrument and include adjustments to take into account the credit risk of the Company and counterparty 
when appropriate. 
 

Other financial assets and liabilities 
 
The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and 
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables) are, because of the short period to 
maturity, assumed to approximate their fair values.  All other financial assets and liabilities are discounted to 
determine their fair values. 

 
Fair values versus carrying amounts 
 
The Company’s assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value relate to derivative instruments which are 
measured using market observable data and as such are deemed Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy 
disclosure required under SFRS(I) 13 Fair Value Measurement.  
 
The fair value and net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. Appropriate transaction costs are 
included in the determination of net fair value.  
 
The carrying amounts of the financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are deemed as Level 1 and 
Level 2. The financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost approximates their fair values except as 
follows: 

 
  2024 2023 

 Note 
Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

  $ million $ million $ million $ million 
Financial liabilities      
Fixed rate debt obligations 14 2,268.2 2,303.8 2,281.2 2,313.0 
      
Unrecognised loss   35.6  31.8 
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The table below sets out the comparison by category of carrying amounts of all the Company’s financial 
instruments, shown in the balance sheet: 

 

 
Amortised 

cost 
$ million 

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 
$ million  

Other 
financial 
liabilities 
$ million  

Total  
carrying  
amount 
$ million 

2024     
Assets     
Derivative assets .– 80.3 .– 80.3 
Trade and other receivables* 354.5 .– .– 354.5 
Cash and cash equivalents # .– .– .# 
 354.5 80.3 .– 434.8 
     
Liabilities     
Debt obligations .– .– 2,268.2 2,268.2 
Derivative liabilities .– 307.7 .– 307.7 
Lease liabilities .– .– 4.1 4.1 
Trade and other payables** .– .– 3,784.2 3,784.2 

 .– 307.7 6,056.5 6,364.2 

 

 
Amortised 

cost 
$ million 

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 
$ million  

Other 
financial 
liabilities 
$ million  

Total  
carrying  
amount 
$ million 

2023     
Assets     
Derivative assets .– 139.7 .– 139.7 
Trade and other receivables* 301.1 .– .– 301.1 
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 .– .– 0.1 
 301.2 139.7 .– 440.9 
     
Liabilities     
Debt obligations .– .– 2,281.2 2,281.2 
Derivative liabilities .– 302.1 .– 302.1 
Lease liabilities .– .– 7.8 7.8 
Trade and other payables** .– .– 3,621.6 3,621.6 
 .– 302.1 5,910.6 6,212.7 

 
#    Less than $0.1 million 
*   Excluding prepayments 
**  Excluding advance receipts  
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28 Commitments 
 
Capital commitments 
 
At the reporting date, capital expenditure contracted but not provided for in the financial statements amounted 
to $517.0 million (2023: $382.0 million). 

 
Lease receivables 
 
At the reporting date, the Company has commitments for future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases as follows: 

 
 

2024 
$ million 

2023 
$ million 

   
Within one year 3.1 2.1 
One to two years 0.2 1.0 
Two to three years 0.1 0.1 
Three to four years 0.1 .– 

 3.5 3.2 

 
29 Dividends 

 
2024 

$ million 
2023 

$ million 
Declared and paid during the financial year 
   
Dividends on ordinary shares 
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for year ended 31 March  

2023: 14.77 cents (year ended 31 March  
2022:	14.46	cents) per share 371.0 363.2 

 




